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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

casENO. O~ my- 05443~ Oleza-Ropes

IN RE: SEALED
CRIMINAL COMPLAINT

/

RIMINAL COVER SHEET

1. Did this matter originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the United States
Attorney's Office prior to August 9, 2013 (Mag. Judge Alicia Valle)? No

2. Did this matter originate from a matter pending in the Northern Region of the United States
Attorney's Office prior to August 8, 2014 (Mag. Judge Shaniek Maynard)? No

3. Did this matter originate from a matter pending in the Central Region of the United States
Attorney’s Office prior to October 3, 2019 (Mag. Judge Jared Strauss)?  No

Respectfully submitted,

JUAN ANTONIO GONZALEZ
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

BY: L)l\/l/é;_:_\

Kurt K. Lunkenheimer

Assistant United States Attorney

Court ID No. A5501535

99 N.E. 4th Street

Miami, FL 33172

Tel: (786) 360-9771

Fax: (305) 530-7976

Email: Kurt.Lunkenheimer@usdoj.gov
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AO 91 (Rev. 08/09) Criminal Complaint

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the
Southern District of Florida

United States of America
V.
Ralph Steinmann
and
Luis Fernando Vuteff,

Case No. 9.’c)~“ IY\\‘) & O?\qq ) R mklo 'R‘L]fs

Defendant(s)

CRIMINAL COMPLAINT BY TELEPHONE OR OTHER RELIABLE ELECTRONIC MEANS

I, the complainant in this case, state that the following is true to the best of my knowledge and belief.

On or about the date(s) of — December 2014 to August 2018 in the county of Miami-Dade in the
Southern District of Florida , the defendant(s) violated:
Code Section Offense Description
Title 18, United States Code, Conspiracy to Money Laundering

Sections 1956(h)

This criminal complaint is based on these facts:
SEE ATTACHED AFFIDAVIT.

# Continucd on the attached sheet.

I

(& onlplrhranl 's signature

Special Agent Alan G. Vega, HSI

Printed name and title

Attested to in accordance with the requirements of
FFederal Rule of Criminal Procedure 4.1 by

Date: b’[ /A / 2N - 'QMZMW % /{% &

Judge's signature ,

City and state: Miami, FL ] Hon. Alicia M. Otazo Reyes, US Magistrate Judge

Printed name and title
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specified unlawful activity, knowing the property involved in the financial transaction represented
the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, and knowing that such transaction was designed
in whole and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership,
and the control of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States
Code, Section 1956(a)(1)(B); all in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(h) and
1956(f). It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activity is: (a) a felony violation of the
Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, in violation of Title 15, United States Code, Section 78dd-3, and
(b) an offense against a foreign nation involving bribery of a public official, and the
misappropriation, theft, and embezzlement of public funds by and for the benefit of a public
official.
Defendant and Others Involved

6. Ralph Steinmann (“STEINMANN?”), a defendant, is a Swiss national who
operated a European financial institution and is also affiliated with “European Company 1" in
Spain. STEINMANN was a money launderer associated with others described below, who
assisted the conspirators and at least two Venezuelan public officials in concealing their illicit
proceeds and gaining access to their illicit proceeds outside of Venezuela,

1. Luis Fernando Vuteff (“VUTEFF”), a co-defendant, is an Argentinian national
who was employed by STEINMANN at a European financial institution and also affiliated with
“European Company 1” in Spain. VUTEFF was a money launderer associated with others
described below, who in part assisted the conspirators and at least two Venezuelan public officials
in concealing their illicit proceeds and gaining access to their illicit proceeds outside of Venezuela.

8. Francisco Convit Guruceaga (“Convit”) is a Venezuelan national. Convit, along

with Conspirator 2, is often referred to as a “Bolichico” or member of the “boliburgues,” a group

2
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38. In a March 7, 2016, recorded meeting with Urdaneta in Panama, the CS and
Urdaneta recounted the receipt and expenditure of the Bribery Proceeds to date (“seventy-eight
million eight hundred and something™). They recounted how much belonged to Conspirator 1
(“*fourteen million five hundred forty thousand six hundred twenty-five™) and other expenditures,
including cash payments to Venezuelan Official 1, who authorized the underlying PDVSA loan
agreement.. The CS recounted the cash kickbacks to Venezuelan Official 1 as follows:

[Venezuelan Official 1], I gave him . . . to the boy he sent in one occasion two

hundred thousand [200,000], June fourth [ 4th] and in another occasion one hundred

thousand [100,000], on June twenty sixth [26th].
In the recorded meeting, Urdaneta agreed with the CS’s accounting of the cash payments to
Venezuelan Official 1. Urdaneta explained to the CS that he did not want to leave a trail of
“breadcrumbs™ with respect to the accounts.

39. During the same recorded meeting on March 7, 2016, Urdaneta again
acknowledged Convit’s involvement and Conspirator 1’s arrangement with Ortega. Conspirator
1 joined the meeting and discussed with Urdaneta and the CS the fake joint venture contract
described in paragraph 26 and who was responsible for it. Conspirator 1 then discussed how to
divide up the Bribery Proceeds:

Okay. Let’s start with an amount of [unintelligible] first. First, I compensated one

point three million [1,300,000] with Carmelo [Urdaneta] for a [unintelligible].

Then, from these eight, four, fifty [8,450] we, we would have seven, one hundred

fifty [7,150] left. Right? This, I still have not written it down for you.

[unintelligible]. Then, these seven, one hundred fifty [7,150], we [unintelligible]

with you and I gave you mine, I don’t touch what belongs to Carmelo. And from

there I don’t have anything to do with these one hundred fifty [150]. And he and I

compensate some other way. So, [ don’t have anything from this anymore.

40,  Importantly, at this meeting, Urdaneta and Conspirator 1 reviewed a spreadsheet of

all the cash payments and expenditures created by the CS; each acknowledged the contents of the

document, wrote notes on it, checked off transactions, and, ultimately, dated it. The CS provided

12
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against a foreign nation involving bribery of a public official, and the misappropriation, theft, and

embezzlement of public funds by and for the benefit of a public official.

Respectfully Submitted,

4

ALAN G. VEGA, SPECIAL AGENT
HOMELAND SECUIRTY INVESTIGATIONS

Sworn and subscribed before me
this [‘ZE day of June, 2022.

HON. ALICiA M. OTAZ% REYES

UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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